AX INFORMATION BULLETIN

Vol 15, No 11 November 2003

CONTENTS

Get your TIB sooner on the internet			
This month's opportunity for you to comment			
Binding rulings			
Product ruling – BR PRD 03/16			
Interpretation guideline			
Non-resident software suppliers' payments derived from New Zealand—income tax treatment			
New legislation			
Non-resident contractors' withholding tax 2			
Gambling Act 2003 and the problem gambling levy 2			
Legal decisions – case notes			
Section 21(1) adjustments TRA 057/02, Decision No 25/2003			
Decision recall TRA 026/2003			
Legislation and determinations			
Correction to the foreign currency article in TIB Vol 15, No 10			
Questions we've been asked			
Trans-Tasman imputation elections 3			
AMP Group demerger—tax implications for New Zealand shareholders 3			
Regular features			
Due dates reminder 3			
Your chance to comment on draft taxation items before they are finalised 3			

This TIB has no appendix



ISSN 0114-7161

GET YOUR TIB SOONER ON THE INTERNET

This Tax Information Bulletin is also available on the internet in PDF. Our website is at www.ird.govt.nz

It has other Inland Revenue information that you may find useful, including any draft binding rulings and interpretation statements that are available.

If you prefer to get the *TIB* from our website and no longer need a paper copy, please let us know so we can take you off our mailing list. You can do this by completing the form at the back of this TIB, or by emailing us at **IRDTIB@datamail.co.nz** with your name and details.

THIS MONTH'S OPPORTUNITY FOR YOU TO COMMENT

Inland Revenue produces a number of statements and rulings aimed at explaining how taxation law affects taxpayers and their agents.

Because we are keen to produce items that accurately and fairly reflect taxation legislation, and are useful in practical situations, your input into the process—as perhaps a user of that legislation—is highly valued.

The following draft items are available for review or comment this month, with a deadline of 30 January 2004.

Ref.	Draft type	Description
XPB0014	Public ruling	Supplies paid for in foreign currency—GST treatment
IS0060	Interpretation statement	Shortfall penalty for gross carelessness
ED0043	Standard practice statement	Loss offsets between group companies

Please see page 34 for details on how to get a copy.

BINDING RULINGS

This section of the TIB contains binding rulings that the Commissioner of Inland Revenue has issued recently.

The Commissioner can issue binding rulings in certain situations. Inland Revenue is bound to follow such a ruling if a taxpayer to whom the ruling applies calculates tax liability based on it.

For full details of how binding rulings work, see our information booklet *Adjudication & Rulings, a guide to binding rulings (IR 715)* or the article on page 1 of *Tax Information Bulletin* Vol 6, No 12 (May 1995) or Vol 7, No 2 (August 1995).

You can download these publications free from our website at www.ird.govt.nz

PRODUCT RULING - BR PRD 03/16

This is a product ruling made under section 91F of the Tax Administration Act 1994.

Name of the Person who applied for the Ruling

This Ruling has been applied for by Vodafone New Zealand Limited ("Vodafone").

Taxation Laws

All legislative references are to the Income Tax Act 1994 unless otherwise stated.

This Ruling applies in respect of sections CH 2, CH 3, CD 5, EB 1, EH 21, EH 22, EH 23, EH 24, BG 1 and GB 1.

The Arrangement to which this Ruling applies

The Arrangement to which this Ruling applies is the Vodafone Pacific Limited ("VPL") Executive Option Plan ("EOP") to be established by VPL for executives in New Zealand and Australia. The Trustee of the EOP will be a New Zealand resident subsidiary of Vodafone, Vodafone Pacific Limited (New Zealand) Share Plans Limited ("the Trustee").

The Trust Deed, the Plan Rules and the Option Contract ("OC") provided to the Commissioner of Inland Revenue on 2 March 2001 together form the basis of the Arrangement subject to this Ruling. These documents supersede all previous documents provided to the Commissioner in relation to this Ruling.

Further details of the Arrangement are set out in the paragraphs below.

1. The remuneration package of Vodafone employees is set each year. The Participants will be offered the choice of taking part of the total value of the remuneration package in cash, salary, or benefits in

- kind, which may include rights to shares under the EOP. The EOP may replace some of the current incentives or performance-based reward programs of Vodafone.
- 2. The EOP will be a key part of Vodafone's remuneration performance pay regime for its Participants. The purpose is to attract, retain and motivate such employees and to act as a deterrent to theft or misbehaviour and to give a clear identity as shareholders in Vodafone. However, the options provide Participants with a chance to share in growth in share value during the holding period.
- 3. The EOP will offer Vodafone employees the option to acquire shares in VPL or Vodafone Group plc ("VGP") ("shares"). Participation in the EOP will be offered to certain key senior executives and selected employees. Employees who accept the offer are "Participants" under the EOP. There will be no matching offers, bonus offers, or any other supplementary offers made to the Participants under the EOP.
- 4. To meet the entitlements of the Participants, shares will be purchased by the Trustee on the New Zealand or Australian or London Stock Exchanges and held by the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Trust. Shares will be acquired by the Trustee on market at their prevailing market value. Where VPL shares are unavailable or are inappropriate given the remuneration purposes of the plan, VGP shares will be purchased on the London Stock Exchange. Shares will be acquired by the Trustee on market at their prevailing market value.
- 5. The Participants' right to the benefit of the shares is contingent on the completion of "quality years of service" and other performance and temporal requirements as required under the contractual terms of each OC. "Quality years of service" is not defined and is simply a general reference to the terms of Rule 11 which provide for forfeiture of benefits in the event of certain conduct by a Participant.

- 6. While the Participants will hold rights to shares under the OC, those rights will not be in respect of specific shares and no specific shares will be allocated notionally or beneficially to the Participants. The options will be operative for up to a maximum period of 10 years or earlier on termination of employment.
- 7. The right to receive Allocation Rights from the Trust will be for nil consideration. A Participant may, in respect of an Unrestricted Allocation Right, exercise his or her right to purchase shares from the Trustee for a consideration not exceeding \$1.
- 8. The purchase cost of the shares will be provided by Vodafone to the Trust and totally funded by the Participants settling Confirmed Allocation Rights as outlined in paragraph 20 following. Vodafone will also provide payments to the Trust to undertake services such as accounting, auditing, consulting, and trust management. The funding for such services will be totally contributed by Vodafone, without reference to any payments made by the Participants.
- 9. Loans may also be made to the Trust by Vodafone or an associated company as a method of spreading the deductible expenditure over a number of years in the accounts of Vodafone. Where a loan has been made deductible contributions will be made over later years to fund the repayment of the loan. The distinction here is between the use of loans to the Trust to acquire the shares (which are non-deductible and repayable to Vodafone) and the payment of contributions to the Trust to acquire the shares (which are irretrievable outgoings of Vodafone incurred in the course of conducting its business and remunerating its employees and are therefore deductible). This Ruling does not consider any aspects of possible future loans.
- 10. The minimum vesting or non-exercise period is two years, which may be reduced to 12 months in the future. In addition, the confirmation of Allocation Rights is subject to the requirements of EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization) targets, or such other company financial performance targets as determined by Vodafone from time to time.
- 11. The Participants' interest in the shares in the Trust cannot be transferred and will be subject to cancellation by the Trustee (eg, in the case of theft, defalcation or misbehaviour, etc).
- 12. On exercise of the options, shares may be transferred in specie to Participants, or cash distributions made by the Trustee to Participants funded from a sale of shares, or from additional contributions from Vodafone. Exercise of options can only take place in respect of Allocation Rights which have been Confirmed and Settled (Rule 10).

13. Further details of the Arrangement as contained in the Trust Deed, the Plan Rules and the OC ("the documents") are detailed as follows:

Trust Deed

- 14. The Trust Deed provides that VPL wishes to establish a Trust for certain executives of VPL and associated companies.
- 15. The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee will apply Trust funds in accordance with the Plan Rules.
- 16. The Trust Deed incorporates the Plan Rules as part of the Trust Deed.

Plan Rules

- 17. VPL may from time to time direct the Trustee to offer one or more executives the right to enter an OC in the form set out in the Schedule to the Plan Rules (Rule 7). Offers will be made to certain key executives and selected employees as outlined earlier
- 18. The Participants may accept an offer to enter an OC by signing the OC and returning it to the Trustee or by following such other method of acceptance set out in the offer (Rule 7.3).
- 19. A Participant, by entering into an OC receives Allocation Rights (a right granted by the Trustee to a Participant to purchase shares under the EOP). Any Allocation Right confirmed by a Participant in accordance with Rule 8 is a "Confirmed Allocation Right" (Rule 2.1).
- 20. A Participant may at any time after confirmation, and must within one month of the happening of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 10.2, settle a Minimum Parcel (as defined in Rule 2.1) of Confirmed Allocation Rights held by the Participant by any or a combination of the following means (Rule 10.1):
 - forfeiting the proportion of the Participant's "Confirmed Allocation Right" which are not otherwise paid (Rule 10.1(a));
 - voluntary payment in accordance with Rule 10.3 (Rule 10.1(b)).

The voluntary payments equal the Share Price (which is the market value of the shares in the period of one week up to and including the Acceptance Date) or the monetary contributions Vodafone makes to the Trustee to purchase shares for the benefit of the Participants. A voluntary payment is a payment of cash by the Participant to Vodafone.

- 21. A Participant is required to settle, in the above manner, within one month of the happening of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 10.2. These circumstances are:
 - confirmation by the Participant or representative where there are "Special Circumstances" eg death (Rule 10.2(a));

- termination of employment of the Participant (Rule 10.2(b));
- termination of the Trust pursuant to Rule 18.1 (Rule 10.2(c));
- confirmation of Allocation Rights upon termination of the Trust pursuant to Rule 18.2 (Rule 10.2(d));
- the expiry of 10 years from close of the Offer Period or such further period provided by the Trustee (Rule 10.2(e)).
- 22. Any Allocation Right settled by a Participant in accordance with Rule 10 is an "Unrestricted Allocation Right". A Participant may, to the extent of any Unrestricted Allocation Right exercise his or her right under an OC to purchase all or part of the shares the subject of the OC from the Trustee for a consideration of \$1, or to receive proceeds from the sale by the Trustee (Rule 10.4(a)).
- 23. On termination of employment including Special Circumstances (as defined in Rule 2.1), the Participant is deemed to have exercised his or her right under the OC, and for a consideration of \$1.00 the Participant is to receive proceeds from the sale by the Trustee of shares on which the Participant has an Unrestricted Allocation Right (Rule 10.4(b)).
- 24. On confirmation as a result of the happening of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 18.2(b) and (c), the Participant is deemed to have exercised his or her right under the OC, and for a consideration of \$1 the Participant is to receive proceeds from the sale by the Trustee of shares on which the Participant has an Unrestricted Allocation Right (Rule 10.4(c)).
- 25. On the expiry of 10 years from the close of the offer period, or the close of such further period at the discretion of the Trustee in consultation with VPL, the Participant is deemed to have exercised his or her right under the OC, and for a consideration of \$1 the Participant is to receive proceeds from the sale by the Trustee of shares on which the Participant has an Unrestricted Allocation Right (Rule 10.4(d)).
- 26. VPL may direct the Trustee to apply plan shares by:
 - transferring the shares to any other incentive plan or scheme for the benefit of employees;
 or
 - transferring the shares to a superannuation or similar fund for the benefit of employees (Rule 12).
- 27. The Participants will have no right to receive dividends. Dividend distributions will be made at the discretion of the Trustee. The Trustee may pay, apply or appropriate all or any part of income

- arising under the Trust Fund to one or more of the Participants (Rule 13.2).
- 28. All voting rights in respect of Plan Shares are vested in the Trustee regardless of any Relevant Requirements, and the Trustee will abstain from exercising those rights (Rule 14).
- 29. Upon termination or winding up of the Trust, each Participant will be deemed to have exercised his or her rights under the OC in respect of Unrestricted Allocation Rights, to purchase shares from the Trustee for a consideration not exceeding \$1 or the Participant can elect to receive the proceeds from the sale by the Trustee of shares the subject of the OC (Rule 18.2(a)).
- 30. In the event the Trust ceases and terminates during the Confirmation Period (as defined in Rule 2.1), each Participant may confirm within 14 days of the Trust so ceasing the whole or the remaining part of the Allocation Right (Rule 18.2(b)).
- 31. If the Trust ceases and terminates prior to the Stipulated Start Date (as defined in Rule 2.1), the Trustee, at the discretion of VPL, may by notice in writing to all Participants allow the Participants to confirm all of their Allocation Rights within 14 days of the date of notice from the Trustee (Rule 18.2 (c)).

Option Contract (OC)

- 32. The OC is between the Trustee and the Participant under which the Participant can exercise Allocation Rights and acquire VPL and VGP shares.
- 33. Under the OC the Trustee grants and the Participant accepts a right as a Participant under the Trust Deed to purchase shares from the Trustee (an "Allocation Right").
- 34. The Participant may during the Confirmation Period and subject to satisfaction of the Relevant Requirements, confirm Allocation Rights by giving the Trustee a Confirmation Notice specifying the number of shares to be subject to Confirmed Allocation Rights (Clause 3.1).
- 35. The Participants are required to settle Confirmed Allocation Rights in accordance with Rule 10 as follows by:
 - making a voluntary payment to Vodafone to fund the share price; or
 - authorising and accepting to forfeit such number of the Confirmed Allocation Rights as referred to in the OC (Clause 2.2.4).
- 36. The Participant may exercise his or her right to purchase shares from the Trustee by giving the Trustee an "Exercise Notice" in respect of an Unrestricted Allocation Right (Clause 4).

- 37. The Exercise Notice must specify the number of shares the Participant wishes to purchase and whether the Participant wishes to:
 - purchase the relevant shares from the Trustee; or
 - request the shares be sold by the Trustee on their behalf (Clause 4.1).
- 38. The Participant is deemed to have given an Exercise Notice in the following circumstances (Clause 4.2):
 - termination of employment, including termination of employment in Special Circumstances eg death (Plan Rule 10.4(b));
 - happening of any of the circumstances set out in Rule 18.2(b) or (c) (Plan Rule 10.4(c));
 - the expiry of 10 years from close of the Offer Period or such further period provided by the Trustee (Plan Rule 10.4(d));
 - termination of Trust (Plan Rule 18.2).
- 39. On the receipt of a valid Exercise Notice, and for a consideration of \$1, the Trustee shall either transfer the shares to the Participants or sell them on their behalf (Clause 4.5).
- 40. The number of shares to which a Participant is entitled will be adjusted for any bonus or rights issues (Clauses 6.1 and 6.2).
- 41. This Ruling does not consider or rule on any tax consequences in respect of any Participants who are not "resident in New Zealand" (as defined in section OB 1).

Conditions stipulated by the Commissioner

This Ruling is made subject to the following conditions:

- a) Vodafone will not act as agent, nominee, or bare trustee of the Participants or the Trustee in respect of the payments Vodafone receives from the Participants as a means of settling the Confirmed Allocation Rights of the Participants.
- b) The executed documents being the The Trust Deed, the Plan Rules and the Participation Contract will not differ in any material way to the draft documents provided to the Commissioner of Inland Revenue on 2 March 2001.
- c) The EOP is, and will be for the period of this Ruling, a "qualifying trust" as defined in section OB 1.

How the Taxation Laws apply to the Arrangement

Subject in all respects to any assumption or condition stated above, the Taxation Laws apply to the Arrangement as follows:

- There is no gross income deemed to be derived or expenditure deemed to be incurred by the Participants pursuant to the accrual rules by virtue of sections EH 21 to EH 24 in relation to their participation in the EOP.
- The benefit received by the Participants under the EOP is monetary remuneration by virtue of section CH 2. The benefit is included in the gross income of the Participants under section CH 3.
- Under section CH 2(6), the Participants derive the gross income in respect of the shares obtained under the EOP, when the Participants exercise their right to acquire the shares from the Trustee.
- Participants under section CH 2 is the difference between the amount paid for the shares, being \$1 (one dollar) and any voluntary payment, and the market value of the shares on the day the right is exercised by the employee. If the shares acquired by the Participants are listed on either the London or the Australian Stock Exchange, the value of the shares is the market value of the shares on the day the right is exercised converted into New Zealand dollars using the relevant foreign exchange rate on that day.
- The amount of any contribution made by Vodafone to the Trustee does not constitute gross income derived by the Participants under sections CD 5, CH 3 or EB 1.
- Sections BG 1 and GB 1 will not apply to negate or vary the conclusions above.

The period or income year for which this Ruling applies

This Ruling will apply for the period from 1 April 2001 to 31 March 2006.

This Ruling is signed by me on the 17th day of September 2003.

Martin Smith

General Manager (Adjudication & Rulings)

INTERPRETATION GUIDELINE

NON-RESIDENT SOFTWARE SUPPLIERS' PAYMENTS DERIVED FROM NEW ZEALAND—INCOME TAX TREATMENT

Introduction

The income tax treatment of computer software transactions is important in view of the rapid development of computer software technology (including the means by which it is transferred) in recent years, the increase in the importation of such technology into New Zealand, and the international trend towards more consistent tax treatment.

This Interpretation Guideline deals with the income tax treatment, under New Zealand domestic law and double tax agreements, of payments derived from New Zealand by non-resident suppliers of computer software. It considers the tax implications, for non-resident suppliers, of the most common types of computer software transactions.

In particular, the following transactions are discussed:

- 1. a sale of the copyright in a computer program
- 2. a licence of a copyright right in a computer program
- a sale of a copy of a computer program subject to copyright
- 4. a lease of a copy of a computer program
- 5. a supply of services for the development or modification of a computer program
- 6. the supply of know-how relating to a computer program.

The Guideline addresses the following income tax issues:

- The proper character, for income tax purposes, of payments made to non-residents for supplies of computer programs—in particular, whether the payments are royalties, business or rental income, for services, or non-taxable receipts, and
- The possible income tax treatments for each payment type under domestic law (including non-resident withholding tax) and double taxation agreements.

This Guideline takes account of the international trend toward conformity in the tax treatment of computer software transactions. The conclusions reached in this Guideline are consistent with the conclusions of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *Model Tax Conventions: Four Related Studies*, Issues in International Taxation No. 4 (1992 OECD Report) which have now been adopted in the Commentary to Article 12 (Royalties) of the OECD Model Tax Convention.

In addition, the conclusions reached in this Guideline are also consistent with the regulations issued by the United States Internal Revenue Service, [Treasury Regulation §1.861-18 Classification of transactions involving computer programs]. These regulations were reviewed because of the fact that the United States is more advanced than any other single jurisdiction in considering the legal ramifications of computer related transactions. The approach adopted by the Internal Revenue Service is, in many respects, similar to that adopted in this Guideline. Due to this similarity, a series of illustrative examples has been included based on examples included by the Internal Revenue Service in its regulations.

This Guideline supersedes the item relating to payments for the use of computer software contained in *Public Information Bulletin 168* (published in January 1988 and subsequently withdrawn in *Taxation Information Bulletin*, Vol 10, No 7, July 1998) and applies to transactions occurring on or after the date of publication.

This Guideline applies equally to related and unrelated parties where the parties are dealing on arm's length terms and no avoidance issues arise.

All legislative references in this item are to the Income Tax Act 1994 unless otherwise indicated.

Legislation

The legislative provisions relevant to the supply of computer software by a non-resident include:

- Section CD 2, which provides that the gross income of any person includes all royalties.
- The definition of the term "royalty" in section OB 1, which includes:

a payment of any kind, whether periodical or not and however described or computed, to the extent to which it is derived as consideration for—

- (a) The use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trademark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process, or other like property or right:
- (b) ...
- (c) ...
- (d) ...
- (e) The supply of scientific, technical, industrial, or commercial knowledge or information:
- (f) The supply of any assistance which is furnished as a means of enabling the application or enjoyment of anything referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (e):
- (g) ...

whether or not that payment is an instalment of the purchase price of any real or personal property:

- Section NG 2, which imposes non-resident withholding tax (NRWT) on every person who derives non-resident withholding income. Such income includes royalties derived from New Zealand by a non-resident. NRWT is imposed at the rate of 15 percent on such royalties. However, this rate may be modified to a rate of 10 percent by a double taxation agreement.
- Section OE 4(1), which sets out the classes of income deemed to be derived from New Zealand, and includes:
 - (a) Income derived from any business wholly or partly carried on in New Zealand:
 - (b) Income derived from any business carried on out of New Zealand to the extent that income consists of [certain classes of income, including royalties]:
 - Income derived from the sale or other disposition of any property, corporeal or incorporeal, situated in New Zealand:
 - (q) Income derived from contracts made or wholly or partly performed in New Zealand:
 - (r) Royalties ...:
 - (s) Payments of any kind to the extent to which they are paid as consideration for the use of, or the right to use, in New Zealand, any personal property, ...:
- Double taxation agreements (DTAs) that reduce New Zealand tax on certain New Zealand-sourced income derived by a non-resident. The relief available depends on the non-resident's country of residence and the nature of the income derived from New Zealand. In this Guideline the following two principal types of income, covered in DTAs, are discussed:

Business profits

Business profits (or income) from the sale of goods or services, with a New Zealand source, are not normally taxed in New Zealand if relief exists under a relevant DTA, unless the non-resident has a permanent establishment in New Zealand (as defined in the applicable DTA) and the particular business profit is attributable to the permanent establishment.

Royalties

Each DTA has a royalty article that defines the term "royalty". Generally, the article limits the New Zealand income tax rate on royalty income derived by a non-resident.

Terminology for computer software

The term "computer program" is not defined in the Income Tax Act 1994 or any of New Zealand's DTAs.

For the purposes of this Guideline "computer program" means:

encoded instructions that cause a computer to perform a particular task or produce a particular result.

The term "computer software" is used in this Guideline to encompass both the singular and plural of "computer program".

To be consistent with the terminology of the computer industry, the word "program" will be spelt the American way throughout this Guideline.

Software transaction categories

The tax treatment of any computer software transaction depends on the terms of the particular agreement between the parties, having regard to all the circumstances of the case

Computer software transactions can generally be classified into two types—those relating to the copyright rights in the computer program and those relating to copies of the program protected by copyright. Functionally, the two types of transaction relate to the use of copyright and the use of a copy of the program respectively.

In most situations it will be clear whether the transaction relates to aspects of copyright or to the use of a copy of the program. However, there are situations where the true character of the transaction is difficult to determine. For example, some pre-packaged software products include "licensing" agreements that make it difficult to decide whether the transaction is dealing with copyright, or the sale of a product subject to copyright. From a tax perspective the answer is important, as consideration received from a transaction involving use of, or right to use, a copyright is a royalty, whereas consideration received from a transaction involving the use of, or the right to use, a computer program is not.

Software copyright protection

The Copyright Act 1994 provides software with copyright protection by specifying that computer programs are treated as literary works (see the definition of "literary work" in section 2 of that Act). The protection given by copyright law is a principal source of value of a computer program to the owner of the copyright.

Under the Copyright Act, copyright is a property right that exists, in accordance with the Act, in **original works** including literary works (section 14). The copyright owner is given **exclusive rights** to do acts that have the copyright protection (section 16). Accordingly, where a copy of a book is purchased, subject to copyright protection, the buyer is bound to comply with the restrictions inherent in copyright protection.

Copyright is concerned with the negative right of preventing the unauthorised copying of physical material. In providing copyright protection, the distinction between transactions involving copyright and transactions involving works subject to copyright is recognised. This distinction applies to all literary works protected by copyright and, for present purposes, is relevant when considering the nature of transactions involving computer programs.

Copyright rights

The Copyright Act 1994 sets out certain "restricted acts" that infringe copyright. The Copyright Act makes it clear that the owner of the copyright has the exclusive right to do any of the listed restricted actions.

The inclusion of a computer program as a "literary work", under copyright law, assists in developing the proper tax treatment of software. In terms of copyright law, a computer program is treated like any other copyrighted product; for example a book, video or sound recording.

When copyrighted products, such as books or recordings, are acquired from non-resident suppliers for personal use or for use within the purchaser's business, the transaction generates business profits. It is also generally agreed internationally that the sale of a book, video cassette, or compact disc for personal or business use does not generate royalties. However, if the transferee acquires the right to exploit the underlying copyright in the product, as when a publisher acquires the right to print a book, then the transaction generates royalties. The critical difference in this latter transaction is that, in commercial terms, the transaction concerns the use of copyright.

Internationally, there is a trend to align the treatment of computer software to that of other copyrighted products. In the 1992 OECD Report, the OECD concluded, when interpreting Article 12 of the Model Convention (the Royalties article), in relation to software that:

Payments made in connection with software represent royalties within the meaning of Article 12 only in circumstances where there is a limited grant of rights (not amounting to a change in ownership) for the commercial development or exploitation of the software. Payments for software, whether "bundled" or not, which is acquired for the personal or business use of the purchaser do not represent royalties.

This view as to the proper application of the royalty article in relation to software is consistent with the view taken in the Guideline. While the OECD view is not binding domestically in New Zealand, it is still relevant in relation to the view adopted in the Guideline as in all material respects the domestic law definition, as it applies to software, is not different to the various definitions used in New Zealand's DTAs.

For the purposes of this Guideline, the distinction between acquiring a program for personal or business use and acquiring it for commercial exploitation through the use of one or more of the copyright rights will be an essential determinant in identifying the category in to which a transaction falls. In circumstances where a supplier grants a customer the ability to exploit the supplier's copyright rights in a program, the transaction will be a copyright right transaction. Where a customer is not granted the ability to exploit the copyright rights in the program, but merely acquires the right to use a copy of the program for personal or business use, the transaction will be a copyrighted article transaction. The distinction will be most relevant in circumstances such as where there is a grant of a restricted copyright right. In those circumstances a consideration of whether an ability to exploit the copyright in the program has been granted will enable a determination of whether the transaction is actually a copyright right transaction or the supply of an article subject to copyright. Obviously where there is the grant of an unrestricted copyright right in the program, there will have been the grant of the ability to exploit the copyright and the transaction will be a copyright right transaction.

For the purposes of this Guideline, the following rights of the copyright owner are the most relevant in the context of computer programs:

- the right to copy the program
- the right to issue copies of the program to the public, whether by sale or otherwise, and
- the right to adapt the program.

Nature and tax treatment of receipts

For income tax purposes the critical issue, in respect of any computer software transaction, is determining what is in fact transferred. In this part of the Guideline the most common types of computer software transactions are examined and some of the possible tax implications are discussed under the following headings:

- 1. Sale of a copyright right in a computer program.
- 2. Licence of a copyright right in a computer program.
- 3. Sale of a copy of a computer program (also referred to in this Guideline as a "copyrighted article").
- 4. Lease of a copy of a computer program.
- Supply of services for the development or modification of a computer program.
- Supply of know-how relating to a computer program.

1. Sale of copyright rights

Copyright, like any asset, can be disposed of for value by the owner. A sale or assignment of copyright results in the ownership of the copyright rights being alienated either permanently or for a limited period. This alienation of the ownership of the rights means that the consideration derived is not for "the use of the rights" and therefore is not treated as a royalty. This view accords with that of the High Court in *DB Group Ltd v CIR* (1996) 17 NZTC 12,446, which confirmed that a payment for the outright sale of copyright rights does not fall within the definition of royalty in section OB 1 of the Income Tax Act 1994. In this situation the purchaser has bought the rights to the copyright as distinct from the "right to use" the copyright. (See also the Court of Appeal decision in *The Trustees of the CB Simkin Trust v CIR* (2003) 21 NZTC 18,117, for a discussion on the distinction between the right to intellectual property and the right to use intellectual property.)

Tax implications

The tax implications of any particular transaction will depend upon the facts of that transaction. However, as it is not a royalty for the purposes of section CD 2, the consideration derived by a non-resident supplier from a sale or assignment of copyright rights in a computer program will generally be a non-taxable receipt, unless the income is otherwise deemed to be derived from New Zealand under section OE 4(1). The most likely situation where this will occur is where the non-resident supplier is carrying on a business in New Zealand which includes supplying such copyright rights. If the supplier is in such a business, the payment will be business income of the supplier.

However, any New Zealand tax implications may be mitigated by the application of a relevant DTA. For example, in the case of a non-resident supplier who is carrying on a business in New Zealand which includes supplying copyright rights, if the supplier is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA, any business income will generally not be taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of the applicable DTA, provided the supplier does not have a "permanent establishment" in New Zealand.

2. Licence of a copyright right

If a computer software transaction involves the transfer of some but not **all** the substantial rights in the copyright (ie a transfer of partial rights) to a New Zealand recipient, it will generally be a licence. A licence "provides an excuse for an act which would otherwise be unlawful as, for example, ... the infringement of a copyright. It is an authority to do something which would otherwise be wrongful, illegal or inoperative" (per Latham CJ in *FCT v United Aircraft Corporation* [1943] 2 AITR 458, at 464). For the purposes of this Guideline, in a licence transaction a transfer of partial rights is granted by the holder of the respective rights to the licensee. This may be compared to an alienation of a portion of the ownership of the copyright rights which would be treated as a sale or an assignment.

A licence to use software copyright generates royalty income under paragraph (a) of the royalty definition in section OB 1 [consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright].

Under a normal licensing agreement, the licensee has the right to use the copyright in the program (as distinct from simply using a copy of the computer program which is subject to copyright protection). Usually this right is used to make copies of the computer program for the purpose of public distribution. For the purposes of this Guideline such licences are referred to as "reproduction licences".

Tax implications - non-resident withholding tax

As stated above, the tax implications of any particular transaction will depend upon the facts of that transaction. However, non-residents are liable to New Zealand income tax on royalties derived from New Zealand. Under section OE 4(1)(r) royalties are deemed to be derived from New Zealand if they are:

- paid by a person who is resident in New Zealand and not paid in respect of a business carried on by the person outside New Zealand through a fixed establishment outside New Zealand; or
- paid by a person who is not resident in New Zealand and are allowed as a deduction to the person for the purposes of tax in New Zealand.

Such royalties, derived from New Zealand by a non-resident, are deemed to be non-resident withholding income by section NG 1(2)(a) and are liable to NRWT at a rate of 15 percent on the gross payments (section NG 2(1)(c)). This rate is generally reduced to 10 percent if the non-resident recipient is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA.

A person paying royalties to a non-resident is required, at the time of making the payment, to deduct the NRWT from the amount of the royalty (section NG 8) and pay the amount of the deduction to the Commissioner.

In the case of copyright royalties, NRWT is a final tax. No separate income tax liability is imposed under an annual assessment (see section NG 3(1)(b)).

3. Sale of a copyrighted article

A supply of a copyrighted program (ie a copy of a computer program subject to copyright) generally does not include a supply of copyright. The copyright remains with the owner of the original work. The supply of a copyrighted program essentially gives the recipient the right to use the program for personal or business use. This right is separate from a right to use the copyright for commercial exploitation. Generally the program is supplied in perpetuity, and usually the only condition is that the purchaser complies with the copyright protection.

The sale of a copy of a computer program is analogous to the sale of other copyrighted works such as books and video tapes. When a copy of a literary work in which intellectual property such as copyright resides is sold, it is clear that the sale of the article does not affect the intellectual property in it; the ownership of the article is distinct from the ownership of the intellectual property. For example, when a copy of a book is purchased, the purchaser does not also acquire copyright rights. This Guideline takes a similar approach to the sale of copies of computer programs when there is no accompanying transfer of any copyright rights. An important distinction is therefore drawn between the use of the copyright in a computer program (discussed above) and the use of a copy of the computer program subject to copyright.

The fact that there may be copyright restrictions on the nature of the use to which the program may be put by the recipient (for example, not to make and sell copies) is not relevant. Such restrictions do not affect the character of the transaction as a sale, in the same way as similar restrictions do not affect the treatment of a sale of a copy of a book.

End-user licences

Many software transactions involve some form of enduser licence or user agreement. One common example of this is what is often referred to as a "shrink-wrap" licence. Shrink-wrap licences are generally issued for mass produced software, where the software is sold to an end-user via a distributor. In those circumstances, there is little scope for the software author, or copyright owner, to insist that end-users sign a licence agreement prior to them acquiring the software. The copyright owner's response to this has been to develop the use of "tear-me-open" or "shrink-wrap" licences.

The volume of programs produced makes it physically and commercially impractical for the copyright owner and the ultimate purchaser to deal directly with each other. The copyright owner attempts to bind the ultimate purchaser to the terms of a software licence by stipulating that if the purchaser undertakes a specified act, such as opening the cellophane wrapper which covers the box which encloses the software, or uses the program for the first time then the terms of the licence are accepted.

A shrink-wrap licence is a specialised form of end-user licence, which is only used when the copyright owner and the end-user do not deal directly with each other. In other software supply contracts, the copyright owner is in a direct contractual relationship with the ultimate purchaser and a software licence is also issued to protect the owner's copyright interests. Usually these licences are restrictive in nature and allow the purchaser to use the program on only one computer at a time. Other restrictions may exist that prohibit renting or leasing the program.

In most situations, these restrictions are intended to protect the copyright interest in the program. Prior to explicit recognition of computer programs as "literary works" in the Copyright Act 1994, copyright owners were compelled to ensure their rights were fully protected. The main function of an end-user licence is to provide the owner with protection against piracy and unauthorised exploitation of its copyright.

The existence of a "licensing" agreement suggests that an end-user licence transaction involves some kind of "a right to use", but, on further examination, a different conclusion may be drawn.

In *Buckley & Young v CIR* (1978) NZTC 61,271 the Court of Appeal set out the relevant steps to take in deciding the character of payments made and benefits provided in a transaction. The Court considered that the starting point in any examination of a transaction is the documentation embodying the transaction. However, the Court continued:

Analysis of the documentation may not determine the true character of the payments made. Indeed, the contract may be silent or equivocal as to the quality which ought to be attributed to the payment in question. In that situation evidence of surrounding circumstances may be of particular significance in determining what the contractual expenditure is calculated to effect from a practical and business point of view.

The critical issue with a computer software transaction that includes any form of end-user licence, is determining what the contract between the parties is trying to achieve from a practical and business perspective. Is the consideration paid for the copy of the copyrighted program or for a licence to use the copyright?

The correct answer emerges when one examines, from a commercial perspective, the purpose of an end-user licence. A reproduction licence gives the licensee the valuable right to exploit the software copyright by reproducing the software for external distribution. An end-user licence does not. Generally the terms of an end-user licence, such as a shrink-wrap licence, are an assertion of the rights of the copyright owner. Rather than allowing exploitation of the copyright, the terms make it clear that such exploitation is prohibited.

The licence in such situations generally provides that:

- (a) The user acquires a perpetual, non-exclusive, non-transferable licence which authorises the licensee to use the software, and
- (b) The licensee is permitted to make back-up copies of the software for operational and security purposes.

The purpose of the licence is to contractually restrict the purchaser from exploiting any of the rights protected by the copyright. The licence is **not** for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright (as in the case of a reproduction licence), but to prohibit use of the copyright. The licence is a vehicle to further assert the copyright owner's rights. There is no transfer of the copyright. From a practical and business perspective, the contract between the parties is for the provision of a copy of a copyrighted article.

This approach to pre-packaged or shrink-wrap software is consistent with the 1992 OECD Report that considered that the "purchaser has done no more than purchase a product". Further, the OECD did not consider it relevant

that the product was protected by copyright and that there were restrictions on the use to which it could be put by the purchaser.

Accordingly, any transaction involving end-user licences of the nature described above, should be treated as a sale of a copyrighted article. On the basis of this view, if computer software is supplied for personal or business use, the purchaser is generally buying a copy of the computer program. Provided there has been no transfer of accompanying copyright rights and the copy has not been transferred for a finite period (and therefore is not hired), the transaction is properly characterised as a sale of a copyrighted article. The accompanying licence is for the purpose of providing further protection to the owner of the copyright. The purchaser is not paying for the right to use the copyright, and accordingly there is no royalty derived by the non-resident.

Tax implications

Once again it is important to note that the tax implications of any particular transaction will depend upon the facts of that transaction. However, the payments will not be a "royalty" for the purposes of section CD 2. Payments derived from sales of computer programs may be treated as business income of the nonresident supplier from the sale of trading stock where the supplier carries on business in New Zealand. If the supplier is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA, such business income will generally not be taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of the applicable DTA, unless the non-resident has a permanent establishment in New Zealand. If the payments received by the non-resident supplier are not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payments will be non-taxable receipts for the non-resident supplier.

4. "Lease" of a copyrighted article

If a computer program copy has been supplied for a finite period without accompanying copyright rights in the program, the supply will generate rental income.

It is common for this type of transaction to be called a "lease". While the transaction has attributes common to a lease—the legal right of exclusive possession for a stipulated period of time—in law, it is better characterised as a bailment or hire as it does not relate to land.

A bailment can take many forms, but it is normal for it to be a hire of goods or a chattel lease. A hire of goods is a contract by which the hirer obtains the right to use the chattel hired, in return for payment to the owner of the price of the hiring. Such payments are referred to as rental payments. A chattel lease, on the other hand, has been introduced by modern commercial methods. While not technically a "lease", as it does not relate to an interest in land, a chattel lease is a contract which, depending on its terms, does create an equitable right of

some kind in the subject of the lease (*Bristol Airport plc v Powdrill* [1990] 2 All ER 493, 502). Payments made pursuant to a chattel lease are referred to in this Guideline as rental payments.

Where parties enter into a transaction for the right to use software for a finite period (as opposed to a right to commercially exploit the copyright rights) then the respective rights and obligations of such a transaction are equivalent to those in a lease. Accordingly, it is the Commissioner's view that such transactions be treated equivalently for income tax purposes.

Tax implications

The tax implications of any particular transaction will depend upon the facts of that transaction. In the case of rental payments made in relation to a chattel lease there may be several possible tax implications.

Rental payments may be deemed to be derived from New Zealand by the operation of section OE 4(1)(s) which states:

Payments of any kind to the extent to which they are paid as consideration for the use of, or the right to use, in New Zealand, any personal property, being payments—

- That are paid by a person who is resident in New Zealand; or
- (ii) That are paid by a person who is not a resident in New Zealand and are allowed as a deduction to the person for the purposes of tax in New Zealand:

Provided that this paragraph shall not apply to income which is deemed to be derived from New Zealand by virtue of paragraph (r): [note that paragraph (r) deals with royalties]

It is also possible that section OE 4(1)(q), which provides that income derived from contracts made or wholly or partly performed in New Zealand is deemed to be derived from New Zealand, may apply.

Under Part E of the Schedule to the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979, contract payments made to non-resident contractors are subject to withholding tax at a rate of 15 percent. A contract payment is defined as "...any payment...made for the contract activity to the non-resident contractor...". A contract activity includes "[t]he granting, providing, or supplying of the use, or the right to use, in New Zealand, ... any personal property..." (regulation 2). Such withholding tax deductions are not a minimum or a final tax liability, but merely a payment on account of the contractor's annual New Zealand income tax liability.

Payments made may constitute business income of the non-resident "lessor". Where the non-resident is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA, generally such business income will not be taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of the applicable DTA, unless the non-resident has a permanent establishment in New Zealand.

Rental payments derived by non-resident "lessors" of computer programs may fall under the royalty articles of New Zealand's DTAs. Most of New Zealand's DTAs include, in the definition of the term royalties, payments made, "... as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use,... industrial, commercial, or scientific equipment...". The Commissioner accepts that leased computer software will not by itself constitute equipment, but considers that it can be part of equipment, within this royalty definition, where it is an integral part of an identifiable item of industrial, scientific or commercial equipment. The Commissioner considers that in order to determine whether software is an integral part of an identifiable item of industrial, scientific or commercial equipment, a functionality test should be applied. Where the software is critical or essential to the function of the equipment, ie the software is necessary to enable the equipment to perform its primary function, the software will be an integral part of the equipment. Questions to ask are whether the software is part of the means by which the equipment performs its function? Does the equipment run the software, or is the software required to run the equipment? In the Commissioner's opinion it is only where the software satisfies this test of functionality in relation to an item of equipment that it will be considered to be an integral part of that equipment. Software which is embedded in an identifiable item of equipment, and is essential to the function of that equipment, will be an integral part of that equipment. However, the Commissioner considers that the fact that software is not embedded in an item of equipment will not automatically preclude that software from being an integral part of that equipment.

A hire or lease of a copy of a computer program from a non-resident supplier may also come within the definition of a "finance lease" in section OB 1. Payments made under such leases are subject to the finance lease regime in sections FC 8A to FC 8I. Under this regime the finance lease is effectively treated as a sale and loan back transaction, with each lease payment apportioned between a principal repayment and an interest component. Income derived by the non-resident supplier from the loan under the finance lease is treated as interest (section FC 8F).

Under section CE 1(1)(a) interest is included in a person's gross income. Section NG 2 imposes NRWT on interest income derived from New Zealand by a non-resident. NRWT will be imposed at a rate of 15 percent on such interest, unless the approved issuer levy is paid. However, the 15 percent rate may be modified by a DTA to 10 percent.

5. Supply of services for the development or modification of computer programs

For many reasons computer programs may need to be modified, enhanced, or developed over their useful commercial life. Non-residents may be engaged to perform these tasks. Usually the non-resident is supplying a service to the owner or user of the program. However, in some situations the non-resident supplies know-how (discussed in the following section), and the correct nature of the supply in any situation depends on the facts and surrounding circumstances of the supply and the agreement made between the parties.

A service is generally considered to be some activity that helps or benefits, or conduct tending to the advantage of another, eg professional assistance. The underlying theme of a service is that the provider (supplier) is doing something **for** the recipient. This view accords with the concept of supplying a service for the purposes of the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 (see, for example, *Case S65* (1996) 17 NZTC 7,408).

It is not practical to list all the types of services that can be supplied by a non-resident, but certain indicators may exist that lend support to there being a supply of services. For example, a service is supplied when the benefit of the modification, enhancement, development, etc, is **for** the recipient. Evidence showing that the ownership of the result or product of the service resides with the recipient supports the view that services have been provided. In a similar vein, if the supply involves an additional modification of the computer program and the copyright in the modification resides with the recipient, then this factor also supports a finding that a service has been provided.

Tax implications

The tax implications of a transaction involving the supply of services will depend upon the facts of the particular transaction. In general, payments for the supply of services for the development or modification of computer programs [not connected with a licence of copyright rights or know-how] will be treated as business income of a non-resident supplier. This income will have a New Zealand source to the extent of the value of the services performed in New Zealand under section OE 4(1)(a) [income derived from any business wholly or partly carried on in New Zealand] or section OE 4(1)(q) [income derived from any contract made or wholly or partly performed in New Zealand], and will therefore be liable to New Zealand income tax.

Such payments for services performed in New Zealand are generally subject to non-resident contractors' withholding tax under Part E of the Schedule to the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979 at a rate of 15 percent. This tax operates as an interim tax on behalf of the non-resident supplier's New Zealand income tax liability.

However, under a relevant DTA, a payment for the supply of services normally will fall under either the "business profits" article or the "independent personal services" article. Generally, under the business profits article such payments will not be taxable in New Zealand if the supplier is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA and the supplier does not have a

permanent establishment in New Zealand. Where the independent personal services article applies, the payments will generally not be taxable in New Zealand provided the supplier is not present in New Zealand for a period or periods exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in the income year or the supplier does not have a "fixed base" regularly available in New Zealand to perform the service.

Supply of know-how relating to computer programs

A payment derived as consideration for the supply of "scientific, technical, industrial, or commercial knowledge or information" (generally referred to as "know-how") is a royalty under paragraph (e) of the royalty definition in section OB 1. [Note that the following discussion is a general discussion of the concept of know-how as it relates to computer programs and is not intended to be a definitive statement on the scope of paragraph (e) of the royalty definition.]

The term "know-how" is difficult to define with any precision. One leading description was given by Lord Radcliffe in *Rolls-Royce* v *Jeffrey* [1962] 1 All ER 801. This description has been usefully summarised in *Stroud's Judicial Dictionary of Words and Phrases* (5th ed, Sweet and Maxwell) at p 1,395 as follows:

"Know-how" is the fund of technical knowledge and experience acquired by a highly specialised production organisation; although it may be, and usually is, noted down in documents, drawings, etc., it is itself an intangible entity whose category may vary according to, and may even be determined by, its use. Like office or factory buildings, patents and trademarks, and goodwill, it may be described as a "capital asset" while it is retained by a manufacturer for his own purposes, but, unlike these, its supply to another is not a transfer of a fixed capital asset because it is not lost to the supplying manufacturer (*Rolls-Royce v Jeffrey; Rolls-Royce v I.R.C.* [1962] 1 All E.R. 801).

Know-how is an intangible asset and, from a practical perspective, can be viewed as undivulged knowledge or information residing with the supplier that enables the product or process to be replicated. In a sense, know-how is that knowledge or information that cannot be gleaned by a mere examination of a product or mere knowledge of the process or technique. In the computer context know-how can perhaps best be described as information relating to computer programming techniques.

Due to its nature, know-how cannot be sold outright, in the sense that the supplier loses the right to use the special knowledge that has been supplied. The supplier of know-how always remains entitled to use it (*Moriarty v Evans Medical Supplies Ltd* [1957] 3 All ER 718, 735). Further, it is important to distinguish know-how from the physical (or electronic) means by which it is transferred. While know-how may subsist in a computer program, that, of itself, does not constitute a supply. In a supply of know-how the seller is passing to the buyer the seller's

special knowledge or information that remains unknown to the public. Accordingly, if the contract between a non-resident supplier and a resident buyer does not purport to transfer the relevant know-how, however it is comprised, the transaction is not a supply of know-how simply because the software has been transferred. In addition, as the know-how is an intangible asset of the seller, who is receiving value from the buyer in exchange for its disclosure, generally know-how will be furnished under conditions which prevent unauthorised disclosure by the buyer. Any unauthorised disclosure would constitute a breach of confidence.

Payments for know-how do not include payments for services. In practice, however, the distinction between know-how and services is not always easy, and much will depend on the facts of a particular case. As mentioned above, in a know-how transaction the supplier is passing on to the buyer special knowledge or information. In a provision of services, the supplier is not passing on special knowledge or information to the buyer, but is instead using knowledge or information in order to develop, enhance, or modify a computer program. In a sense, the difference between a supply of know-how and a supply of services is that know-how enables the buyer to use the know-how for his or her own benefit, whereas in a supply of services the supplier uses his or her know-how for the benefit of the buyer.

In summary, therefore, the provision of information with respect to a computer program will be treated as the provision of know-how only if the information is:

- Information relating to computer programming techniques
- Furnished under conditions preventing unauthorised disclosure
- Specifically contracted for between the parties, and
- Considered property subject to trade secret protection, (ie, that unauthorised disclosure constitutes a breach of confidence).

Tax implications

The income tax treatment of royalties derived from New Zealand by non-resident suppliers of know-how is the same as that described above for the licensing of copyright rights, except that with a know-how royalty the NRWT of 15 percent represents a minimum New Zealand income tax only (see section NG 4 which sets out the categories of non-resident withholding income in which the liability to NRWT is a minimum tax). If an income tax assessment would produce a greater amount of income tax than NRWT, the amount of income tax imposed under such an annual assessment will apply—with a credit being given for any NRWT imposed. Again, the tax rate on know-how royalties is subject to the provisions of any relevant DTA, which generally reduce the rate to 10 percent on the gross payments.

Additional considerations

Transactional analysis approach

In order to determine whether there has been a sale of copyright rights or the granting of a licence, or whether there has been the sale of a copyrighted article or merely a lease, the approach adopted in New Zealand case law is the transactional analysis approach, as set out in several leading New Zealand cases (see, for example, *Buckley & Young Ltd v CIR* (1978) 3 NZTC 61,271, *Finnigan v CIR* (1995) 17 NZTC 12,170). The transactional analysis approach examines the legal rights and obligations of the parties to determine whether there has been a sale, licence or lease transaction.

It is paramount to determine the legal rights and obligations flowing from the transactions entered into. The legal effect of the transaction is what matters, not the form or language used to express it. Thus, in determining whether a transaction is a sale or licence of copyright rights, it is necessary to consider the particular transaction carefully to identify the legal rights and obligations of the parties flowing from the transaction—do these rights and obligations indicate that the transaction is a sale or simply a licence of the copyright rights? Equally, the same applies when determining whether there has been a sale or lease of a copyrighted article.

In determining whether there has been a sale or licence of copyright rights, matters such as whether all substantial copyright rights, or merely limited rights, have been transferred will be relevant. The sale of copyright rights will ensure the permanent transfer to the transferee of all the rights under copyright law which the transferor previously exercised. In the case of a licence of copyright rights the licensee will generally only have permission to exercise those copyright rights in accordance with the licence granted. Any exercise of the rights beyond the authority of the licence will be unlawful. In distinguishing a sale of copyrighted article transaction from a lease transaction, matters such as whether the transfer of the copyrighted article involves the complete alienation of the article from transferor to transferee, or merely transfer of possession of the article for a defined period, may be relevant.

For the purposes of the transactional analysis approach, in the context of computer programs none of the following factors are relevant in determining the true nature of a transaction:

- (i) The method of delivery;
- (ii) The form of consideration; or
- (iii) The labels given to the transaction by the parties.

Special characteristics of computer programs

A feature of computer programs is the ease with which perfect copies can be made. Distribution arrangements are often entered into in which the recipient obtains rights to make multiple copies of the program for operation only within its own business. Such arrangements are commonly referred to as "site licences" or "network licences". Although these arrangements permit the making of multiple copies of the program, these rights are generally limited to those copies necessary for the purpose of simply enabling the program to operate on the recipient's computers or network. Reproduction for any other purpose is not permitted.

The point here is that the right granted is a restricted right to copy the program. A consideration of the facts and circumstances indicates that the recipient has not been granted the ability to exploit the supplier's copyright rights, but rather has been granted the right to use the program for its own personal or business use. Any consideration attributable to the copying rights, if quantifiable, is likely to be minimal in value, and it is correct that it should be disregarded in assessing the character of the transaction for income tax purposes. For example, for income tax purposes, a transaction in which the software recipient has the right to make 50 copies of a program for its employees' use at one location (a site licence) is treated the same as a transaction in which 50 individual disks are purchased, provided no copyright rights are supplied in either case. Assuming the right to use the copy of the computer program in either case is permanent, both transactions are treated as the sale of copyrighted articles.

While at first glance this may appear to be advocating a substance over form approach, it is important to appreciate that the determination is not one of substance over form, but rather whether there has been the grant of a right to commercially exploit a copyright right. In the context of determining whether the right to copy has been granted for commercial exploitation purposes, or whether it has been granted for personal or business use, the fact that the transaction is equivalent to the purchase of copyrighted articles is a relevant consideration.

Special note should be made of the situation of "enterprise licences" in this context. Enterprise licences generally provide for bulk purchasing or copying for multiple sites distributed throughout the multiple legal entities in an affiliated group. An "enterprise licence" is, in one sense, simply a form of multiple site licence. The software recipient is still simply given the right to make so many copies of a program for its employees' use – the only difference being that the employees are at more than one location. In other words, rather than being given the right to copy the program the required number of times for the number of employees at one site, the recipient is given the right to copy the program the required number of times for the number of employees in the recipient's business, regardless of location.

The obvious distinction between an enterprise licence and even a multiple site licence is that, in the case of an enterprise licence, the distribution is wider as it generally extends beyond a single legal entity to cover multiple legal entities within an affiliated group. However, despite this wider distribution, the principle behind the licence is the same as with a site or network licence. Provided there is no ability to commercially exploit the program granted and the right to copy is provided only for the business use of the enterprise, the transaction is a copyrighted article transaction and not a copyright transaction. In practical terms the transaction is the equivalent to a transaction whereby the software recipient bought the required number of copies of the software from the supplier and simply distributed them within its group.

Note that the fact that the software recipient chooses to recover its costs plus a margin from members of its group will not affect the character of the transaction between the software supplier and the software recipient as being treated as a copyrighted article transaction. The software supplier has not granted the software recipient the ability to commercially exploit its rights. Rather, the ability of the software recipient to collect an intra-group internal charge or mark-up arises as a result of the relationship between the software recipient and the members of its group.

The same analysis applies equally to an enterprise licence as to a site or network licence. Provided the right to copy the program is limited to those copies necessary for the purpose of simply enabling the program to operate on the computers or network of the enterprise, regardless of the number of locations or entities involved, and there is no ability to commercially exploit that right to copy granted, then the transaction should be treated as the sale of copyrighted articles.

Approach to mixed transactions

A computer program transaction may include more than one of the transactions described in 1-6 above. In such situations it may be necessary to treat each part of the transaction as a separate transaction, with the appropriate treatment described in this Guideline being applied to each separate transaction. This Guideline is concerned with characterising transactions and is not intended to provide rules for allocating income arising from mixed transactions. Mixed transactions occur in many circumstances outside of transactions involving computer programs. Bearing this in mind, the following paragraphs provide some brief guidance on dealing with mixed transactions.

In *A Taxpayer v Commissioner of Inland Revenue* (1997) 18 NZTC 13,350, at p. 13,366, Tipping J said:

In New Zealand liability to tax depends ... on statutory construction applied to legal rights and obligations.

This accords with longstanding New Zealand authorities such as *Buckley & Young Ltd v CIR* (1978) 3 NZTC 61,271 and *Europa Oil (NZ) Ltd v CIR (No 2)* (1976) 2 NZTC 61,066.

Accordingly, as discussed above, it is necessary in analysing a transaction to identify correctly its true nature as found in the existing legal rights and obligations. If a transaction can be broken down into separate transactions, the appropriate tax treatment (as described above) should be applied to each separate transaction.

The test to be applied is whether a part of the transaction is merely ancillary or incidental to another part of the transaction such that it can simply be treated in a similar manner to that other part. If this is the case, then that ancillary part of the transaction is to be treated in the same fashion as the rest of the transaction. However, this does not preclude there being a transaction which has several different parts, some or all of which are not ancillary or incidental to any other part of the transaction. In those circumstances the different parts of the transaction will be treated as separate transactions and characterised accordingly.

One area where this discussion is particularly relevant is that of software development tools. For example, these products frequently include libraries of standard routines that software developers are granted the right to distribute as part of the software products they develop and sell. Typically the software developer pays a one time fee for the software development product and does not make contingent payments upon sales of its own software products. In these circumstances the right to distribute the libraries in conjunction with any programs created using the development program is an ancillary or incidental part of the overall transaction with the supplier, which is the transfer of the copyrighted product, ie, the software development program. Therefore, the transaction will be treated solely as the supply of a copyrighted article and not the supply of a copyright right.

Market intermediaries

The case of market intermediaries should also be noted. These are distributors who purchase software products from manufacturers and in turn resell them to other distributors or end-users. Although the agreement between the parties will often be referred to as a "licence", generally the distributor has not been granted the right to commercially exploit any copyright right in the program. The distributor simply purchases copyrighted articles and then on-sells these goods. The right to distribute previously existing copies of programs is not a right to commercially exploit any copyright rights for income tax purposes. Accordingly, the transaction will be a copyrighted article transaction rather than a copyright transaction and the payments made by the distributor are not royalties.

Ancillary services provided by the supplier

Under paragraph (f) of the royalty definition, a payment derived as consideration for the supply of any assistance, furnished as a means of enabling the application or enjoyment of anything referred to in the preceding paragraphs of the definition, is also a royalty. Accordingly, payments for services connected with a licence of copyright rights or the supply of know-how are royalties subject to NRWT.

However, this treatment of payments for ancillary services may be subject to DTA provisions if the supplier is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA. If the applicable DTA does not include such ancillary services in its royalties definition, the related payments may be treated as business income of the non-resident software supplier if the supplier carries on business in New Zealand. In those circumstances, the payments will generally not be taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of the DTA, unless the supplier has a permanent establishment in New Zealand.

One of the most common types of ancillary services provided is that of helpdesk services. In most cases paragraph (f) of the royalty definition will have no application as the helpdesk services will not be provided in relation to a transaction concerning copyright rights, but rather in relation to a transaction concerning a copyrighted article, ie, the program itself. In addition, the tax implications of a transaction concerning helpdesk services would depend heavily on the facts in any particular case, eg, are the services provided in New Zealand or from a location outside New Zealand, are the services provided by the non-resident supplier or an agent, are the services contracted out?

Integrated software

If a copy of a computer program embodied in any carrying medium is integrated or incorporated into any other product (for example, computer hardware or a motor vehicle), and sold together without any accompanying copyright rights, the transaction is also treated as a sale of a copyrighted article with the proceeds being business income (such software is often referred to as integrated or bundled software).

Examples

In the remainder of this Guideline a series of examples is given to provide guidance. As stated earlier, these examples are drawn substantially from the United States Internal Revenue Service regulations [Treasury Regulations, §1.861-18 Classification of transactions involving computer programs], with which this Interpretation Guideline is in substantial agreement.

The examples are in two parts. First, the transaction is analysed to ascertain whether it involves the supply of copyright rights or the supply of a copyrighted article. Then, in the case of a supply of copyright rights, it

considers whether the transaction is a sale or licence of rights. In the case of a supply of a copyrighted article, the question becomes whether the transaction is a sale or a lease of that article.

As discussed in the Guideline, the tax implications of a software transaction depend upon the particular facts of each case. For example, if Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand the consideration received from the transaction may be treated as business income of the non-resident. However, if the supplier is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA, the consideration may not be taxable in New Zealand under a relevant article in a DTA, provided that the non-resident does not have a permanent establishment in New Zealand. Accordingly, it is important to be aware that the tax implications discussed in the different examples of computer software transactions are indicative only of the types of tax implications which may arise. There are various issues which are relevant in making the appropriate determination.

Example 1: Sale of a copyrighted article

Foreign Co owns the copyright in a computer program. It copies the program on to disks. The disks are placed in boxes covered with a wrapper on which is printed what is generally referred to as a "shrink-wrap licence". The licence is stated to be perpetual. Under the licence no reverse engineering of the computer program is permitted. The transferee receives, first, the right to use the program on two of its own computers (a laptop and a desktop) provided that only one copy is in use at any one time, and, second, the right to make one copy of the program on each machine as an essential step in the utilisation of the program. The transferee is permitted by the shrink-wrap licence to sell the copy, as long as it destroys any other copies it has made and imposes the same terms and conditions of the licence on any would-be purchaser of its copy. These disks are made available for sale to the general public in New Zealand. P, a New Zealand resident, pays for one such disk.

Analysis

The existence of the "shrink-wrap licence" is not determinative. No copyright rights, as described in this Guideline, have been supplied in this transaction. P has received a copy of the program and is therefore treated as having acquired a copyrighted article.

Taking into account all of the facts and circumstances, P is properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore, there has been a sale of a copyrighted article, rather than the grant of a lease.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. The most likely

situation where the source rules will apply will be if Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand. If that is the case, the consideration received from the sale will be treated as business income unless it is not taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of a relevant DTA. It is also possible that the payment may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that it is income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that it is income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 2: Internet sale

The facts are as in Example 1, except that instead of selling disks, Foreign Co decides to make the program available, for a fee, on a worldwide web home page on the internet. P, the New Zealand resident, in return for payment made to Foreign Co, downloads the program (via modem) on to the hard drive of its computer. As part of the electronic communication, P signifies its assent to a licence agreement with terms identical to those in Example 1, except that in this case P may make a back-up copy of the program on to a disk.

Analysis

None of the copyright rights described in this Guideline have passed to P. Although P did not buy a physical copy of the disk with the program on it, the means of transferring the program is irrelevant. P has been supplied with a copyrighted article.

As in Example 1, P is properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore, there has been a sale of a copyrighted article rather than the grant of a lease.

Tax implications

As in Example 1, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. The most likely situation where the source rules will apply will be if Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand. If that is the case, the consideration received from the sale will be treated as business income of the non-resident. If Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA, this business income will generally not be taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of the relevant DTA, provided Foreign Co does not have a permanent establishment in New Zealand.

Example 3: Lease transaction

The facts are as in Example 1, except that P, the New Zealand resident, only pays Foreign Co to use the program for two months. At the end of that period, P must return the disk with the program on it to Foreign Co. P must also destroy any copies made of the program. If P wishes to use the program for a further period, P must enter into a new agreement to use the program for an additional charge.

Analysis

No copyright rights, as described in this Guideline, have been supplied in this transaction. P has received a copy of the program and is therefore treated as having acquired a copyrighted article.

Taking into account all of the facts and circumstances, P is not properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore, there has been a lease of a copyrighted article, rather than a sale. Taking into account the special characteristics of computer programs, the result would be the same if P was required to destroy the disk at the end of the two month period instead of returning it, since Foreign Co can make additional copies of the program at minimal cost.

Tax implications

In this situation the payment may be for "the use of, or the right to use, personal property in New Zealand" and on this basis the payment will have a New Zealand source and be taxable. Under the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979 a withholding tax may apply. If Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA and qualifies for DTA relief, Foreign Co may obtain an exemption from the withholding tax impost. This assumes that the payment is not for the use of, or the right to use, equipment, which is the case here.

Example 4: Electronic lock

The facts are the same as those in Example 2, where P, the NZ resident, receives the program from Foreign Co's home page on the internet, except that P may only use the program for a period of two months, at the end of which an electronic lock is activated and the program can no longer be accessed. Thereafter, if P wishes to use the program it must return to the home page and pay Foreign Co to send an electronic key to reactivate the program for another period.

Analysis

As in Example 3, P has not received any copyright rights. P has received a copy of the program. The means of transmission is irrelevant. Therefore, P has received a copyrighted article.

As in Example 3, P is not properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore, there has been a lease of a copyrighted article rather than a sale. While P does retain the program on its computer at the end of the two month period, as a legal matter P no longer has the right to use the program (without further payment) and, indeed, cannot use the program without the electronic key. The effect is that, as far as P is concerned, it is as if the program is no longer on the hard drive of P's computer. Although in Example 3, P was required to physically return the disk, taking into account the special characteristics of computer programs, the result in this Example 4 is the same as in Example 3.

Tax implications

The tax implications for this example will be similar to those discussed in relation to Example 3 above.

Example 5: Sale of a copyright right

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co, and grants NZ Co an exclusive licence for the remaining term of the copyright to:

- copy and distribute an unlimited number of copies of the program in the geographic area of New Zealand.
- prepare derivative works based upon the program.

The agreement states that NZ Co will pay Foreign Co a royalty of \$1 million a year for three years: the anticipated period for which the program will have commercially exploitable value.

Analysis

Foreign Co has transferred a disk with a copy of the program on it to NZ Co. However, the transfer of the physical copy of the program is simply an ancillary or incidental part of the overall transaction, which is the transfer of the copyright rights. Therefore, the transaction is treated as a transfer of copyright rights, not of copyrighted articles.

As all substantial copyright rights have been supplied in the transaction, Foreign Co will be treated as having sold copyright rights to NZ Co. NZ Co has acquired the copyright rights in the program for a geographic area, and has received the rights for the remaining life of the copyright in the program. In this situation, the fact that the agreement is stated as a licence is not necessarily determinative of the true nature of the transaction. In addition, the fact that the payment is called a royalty is also not determinative. For tax purposes a royalty is defined as "consideration derived for the use of or the right to use a copyright". However, in this situation NZ Co has purchased all the substantial copyright rights in the program. (This conclusion would be the same if the copy of the program were transmitted electronically to NZ Co, as the means of transmission is not relevant.)

Tax implications

As this transaction does not give rise to a royalty, the consideration derived by the non-resident from the sale of the copyright rights will generally be a non-taxable receipt, unless the income is otherwise deemed to be derived from New Zealand under section OE 4(1). The most likely situation for this to occur is where the non-resident is carrying on a business in New Zealand which includes supplying such copyright rights. Where this is the case, the payment will be business income of the supplier unless the income is not taxable in New Zealand under the business profits article of an applicable DTA.

Example 6: Licence of a copyright right

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co. Foreign Co grants NZ Co the non-exclusive right to reproduce (either directly or by contracting with another person to do so) and distribute for sale to the public in New Zealand an unlimited number of disks, in return for a payment related to the number of disks copied and sold. The term of the agreement is two years, which is less than the remaining life of the copyright.

Analysis

As in Example 5, the transfer of the disk containing the copy of the program is not treated as the transfer of a copyrighted article. The transfer of the physical copy of the program is simply an ancillary or incidental part of the overall transaction, which is the transfer of the copyright rights. Therefore, the transaction is treated as a transfer of copyright rights, not of copyrighted articles.

In this example there has been a licensing of the program to NZ Co and the payments made by NZ Co are royalties. Unlike Example 5, there has not been a transfer of all substantial rights in the copyright in the program, because Foreign Co has the right to enter into other licences with respect to the copyright in the program, including in New Zealand (or even to sell that copyright, subject to NZ Co's interest). NZ Co has acquired no right itself to license the copyright rights in the program. Finally, the term of the licence is for less than the remaining life of the copyright.

Tax implications

As the payments are royalties, non-resident withholding tax is payable at a rate of 15 percent on the gross payments. This rate may be reduced to 10 percent if Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA.

In this situation, at the time of making each payment NZ Co is required to deduct NRWT from the amount of the royalty and to pay it to the Commissioner.

Example 7: Distributor

NZ Co, a distributor in NZ, enters into an agreement with Foreign Co to purchase as many copies of a computer program on disk as it may from time-to-time request. NZ Co will then sell these disks to retailers. The disks are shipped in boxes covered by shrink-wrap licences (identical to the licence described in Example 1).

Analysis

NZ Co has not acquired any copyright rights with respect to the program. It has acquired individual copies of the program, which it may sell to others. The use of the term licence is not dispositive. NZ Co has acquired copyrighted articles.

Taking into account all of the facts and circumstances, NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of copyrighted articles. Therefore, there has been a sale of copyrighted articles.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payments received by Foreign Co are not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payments will be non-taxable receipts for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payments will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payments may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that they are income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that they are income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 8: Hardware manufacturer – licence

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co, which is engaged in the manufacture and sale of personal computers in New Zealand. Foreign Co grants NZ Co the non-exclusive right to copy the program onto the hard drive of computers which it manufactures, and to distribute those copies (on the hard drive) to the public. The term of the agreement is two years, which is less than the remaining life of the copyright in the program. NZ Co pays Foreign Co an amount based on the number of copies of the program it loads on to computers.

Analysis

The analysis is as in Example 6. NZ Co has acquired a copyright right which it is able to exploit by copying the program on to the hard drives of the computers it manufactures and sells. The transfer of the physical copy of the program is simply an ancillary or incidental part of the overall transaction, which is the transfer of the copyright right. Therefore, the transaction is treated as a transfer of copyright rights, not of copyrighted articles. In this example, NZ Co has not acquired all substantial rights in the copyright in the program (for example, the term of the agreement is less than the remaining commercial life of the copyright). This transaction is a licensing of the copyright to NZ Co rather than a sale, and the payments made by NZ Co are royalties. The result would be the same even if NZ Co included a backup copy of the program on a floppy disk with the computers it sells.

Tax implications

As the payments are royalties, non-resident withholding tax is payable at a rate of 15 percent on the gross payments. This rate may be reduced to 10 percent if Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA.

In this situation, at the time of making each payment NZ Co is required to deduct NRWT from the amount of the royalty and to pay it to the Commissioner.

Example 9: Manufacturer as intermediary – sale not licence

The facts are the same as in Example 8, except that NZ Co, the NZ company, receives physical disks. The disks are shipped in boxes covered by shrink-wrap licences (identical to the licences described in Example 1). The terms of these licences do not permit NZ Co to make additional copies of the program. NZ Co uses each individual disk only once to load a single copy of the program onto each separate computer. NZ Co transfers the disk with the computer when it is sold.

Analysis

As in Example 7 (unlike Example 8) no copyright right has been transferred. NZ Co acquires the disks without the right to exploit Foreign Co's copyright rights, eg, without the right to reproduce and distribute publicly further copies of the program. Therefore, this is the transfer of copyrighted articles.

Taking into account all of the facts and circumstances, NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of copyrighted articles. Therefore, the transaction is classified as the sale of a copyrighted article. (The result would be the same if NZ Co used a single physical disk to copy the program onto each computer, and transferred an unopened box containing the program with each computer, if NZ Co was not permitted to copy the program onto more computers than the number of individual copies purchased.)

Tax implications

As in Example 7, if the payments received by Foreign Co are not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payments will be non-taxable receipts for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payments will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payments may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that they are income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that they are income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 10: Site, network and enterprise licences

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co, and grants NZ Co the right to load the program on to 50 individual workstations for use only by NZ Co employees at one location, in return for a once only per-user fee (generally referred to as a site licence). If additional workstations are subsequently introduced, the program may be loaded on to those machines for additional once only per-user fees. The licence which

grants the rights to operate the program on 50 workstations also prohibits NZ Co from selling the disk (or any of the 50 copies) or reverse engineering the program. The term of the licence is stated to be perpetual.

Analysis

The grant of a restricted right to copy, unaccompanied by any ability to exploit the supplier's copyright rights, is not a copyright right as described in this Guideline. Therefore, this transaction is treated as a transfer of copyrighted articles (50 copies of the program).

As NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article, there has been a sale of copyrighted articles rather than the grant of a lease. Notwithstanding the restriction on sale, other factors such as, for example, the risk of loss remaining with the supplier and the right to use the copies in perpetuity outweigh, in this case, the restrictions placed on the right of alienation.

The result would be the same if NZ Co was granted either a network or enterprise licence, provided NZ Co was not also granted the ability to exploit Foreign Co's copyright rights in the program. In either case, it is not the extent of the distribution which is relevant, but the question of whether NZ Co is granted any ability to commercially exploit the copyright rights of Foreign Co.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payment will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payment may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that it is income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that it is income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 11: Lease of program

The facts are as in Example 10, except that NZ Co pays a monthly fee to Foreign Co, calculated with reference to the permitted maximum number of users (which can be changed). In return for this monthly fee, NZ Co receives the right to receive upgrades of the program as they become available. The agreement may be terminated by either party at the end of any month. When the disk containing the upgrade is received, NZ Co must return the disk containing the earlier version of the program to Foreign Co and delete (or otherwise destroy) any copies made of that earlier version. If the contract is terminated NZ Co must delete (or otherwise destroy) all copies made of the current version of the program.

The agreement specifically provides that NZ Co has not been granted an option to purchase the program.

Analysis

NZ Co has received no copyright rights as described in this Guideline. Foreign Co has not provided any knowhow or services to NZ Co. Therefore, the transaction is a supply of a copyrighted article.

It is clear that NZ Co is not the owner of the copyrighted article. NZ Co does not receive the right to use the program in perpetuity, but only for as long as it continues to make payments. NZ Co does not have the right to purchase the program on advantageous (or, indeed, any) terms once a certain amount of money has been paid to Foreign Co or a certain period of time has elapsed (which might indicate a sale). NZ Co is not permitted to on-sell the software. Once the agreement is terminated, NZ Co will no longer possess any copies of the program, current or superseded. Therefore, in reality the transaction is "a lease" of a copyrighted article (as the term "lease" is described in this Guideline).

Note that the result would be different if NZ Co, while having to return copies of previous versions of the program when upgrades were received, was entitled to keep the latest version of the program in the event the agreement was terminated. In these circumstances there would have been a sale of a copyrighted article rather than a lease.

Tax implications

In this situation the payments may be for "the use of, or the right to use, personal property in New Zealand" and on this basis the payments will have a New Zealand source and be taxable. Under the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979 a withholding tax may apply. If Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA and qualifies for DTA relief, Foreign Co may obtain an exemption from the withholding tax impost. This assumes that the payments are not for the use of, or the right to use, equipment, which is the case here.

Example 12: Sale or lease

NZ Co enters into a contract with Foreign Co for Foreign Co to modify its program so that it can be used at NZ Co's facility in New Zealand. Under the contract, NZ Co is to acquire one copy of the program on a disk and the right to use the program on 5,000 workstations. The contract requires Foreign Co to rewrite elements of the program so that it will conform to NZ accounting standards and states that Foreign Co retains all copyright rights in the modified program. The agreement between Foreign Co and NZ Co is otherwise identical as to rights and payment terms as the agreement described in Example 10.

Analysis

As in Example 10, no copyright rights are being transferred. In addition, since no copyright rights are being transferred to NZ Co, this transaction does not

involve the provision of services by Foreign Co. This transaction will be classified, therefore, as a transfer of copyrighted articles (5,000 copies of the program).

Taking into account all the facts and circumstances, NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of copyrighted articles. There has therefore been a sale of copyrighted articles rather than the grant of a lease.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payment will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payment may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that it is income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that it is income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 13: Provision of services

NZ Co enters into a licence agreement with Foreign Co for a new computer program. Foreign Co and NZ Co agree that Foreign Co will write the program for NZ Co and that, when the program is completed, the copyright in the program will belong to NZ Co. NZ Co gives instructions to Foreign Co programmers on required program specifications. NZ Co agrees to pay a fixed monthly sum during the program's development. If NZ Co is dissatisfied with the development of the program, it may cancel the contract at the end of any month. In the event of termination, Foreign Co will retain all payments made up to the date of termination. Any procedures, techniques, or copyrightable interests in the program will be the property of NZ Co. All the payments are referred to in the agreement as royalties. There is no provision in the agreement for any continuing relationship between the two companies, such as the furnishing of updates of the program, after completion of the work.

Analysis

In this example, Foreign Co is treated as supplying services to NZ Co. NZ Co bears all the risks of loss associated with the development of the program, and is the owner of all copyright rights in it. The fact that the agreement is labelled a licence is not determinative (nor is the fact that Foreign Co receives a sum that is labelled a royalty).

Tax implications

In this example, if the payments received by Foreign Co are not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payments will be non-taxable receipts for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payments will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co. It is also possible that in this example the payments may be held to have a New

Zealand source on the basis that they are income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand. Where the services are performed in New Zealand the payments received by Foreign Co may be liable to a withholding tax under the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979. However, under a relevant DTA, a payment for the supply of services normally will fall under the "business profits" article—in which case, such payments will generally not be taxable in New Zealand if the supplier does not have a permanent establishment in New Zealand.

Example 14: Know-how

Foreign Co and NZ Co agree that Foreign Co will provide information relating to certain programming techniques which are not generally known to computer programmers, to enable NZ Co to more efficiently create computer programs. These techniques represent the product of experience gained by Foreign Co from working on many similar computer programming projects, and are furnished to NZ Co under non-disclosure conditions. The information is considered to be subject to trade secret protection.

Analysis

This transaction will be classified as the provision of know-how, as it entails the supply of confidential special knowledge and information relating to computer programming techniques under non-disclosure conditions. The payment will, therefore, constitute a royalty.

Tax implications

As the payment is a royalty, NRWT is payable at a rate of 15 percent on the gross payment. This rate may be reduced to 10 percent if Foreign Co is resident in a country with which New Zealand has a DTA.

In this situation, at the time of making payment NZ Co is required to deduct NRWT from the amount of the royalty and to pay it to the Commissioner.

Example 15: Software development tools – including libraries

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co in exchange for a single fixed payment. The program is a computer program development program, which is used to create other computer programs, consisting of several components, including libraries of reusable software components that serve as general building blocks in new software applications. No element of these libraries is a significant component of any overall new program. Since a computer program created with the use of the program will not operate unless the libraries are also present, the licence agreement between Foreign Co and NZ Co grants NZ Co the right to distribute copies of the libraries with any program developed using the program. The licence agreement is otherwise identical to the licence agreement in Example 1.

Analysis

NZ Co has received a copy of the program and has therefore received a copyrighted article. Taking into account the overall transaction and the surrounding facts and circumstances, the right to distribute the libraries in conjunction with any programs created using the development program is an ancillary or incidental part of the overall transaction which is the transfer of the copyrighted article. Therefore, the transaction is treated solely as a transfer of a copyrighted article and not a copyright right.

Taking into account all the facts and circumstances, NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore, there has been the sale of a copyrighted article rather than the grant of a lease.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payment will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payment may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that it is income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that it is income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Example 16: Correction software

Foreign Co transfers a disk containing a computer program to NZ Co. The disk contains both the object code and the source code to the program and the licence agreement grants NZ Co the right to:

- Modify the source code in order to correct minor errors and make minor adaptations to the program so that it will function on NZ Co's computer; and
- Recompile the modified source code.

The licence does not grant NZ Co the right to distribute the modified program to the public. The licence is otherwise identical to the licence agreement in Example 1.

Analysis

NZ Co has received a copy of the program, and has therefore received a copyrighted article. Considering the facts and surrounding circumstances, the right to modify and recompile the source code in order to create new code to correct minor errors and make minor adaptations is simply an ancillary or incidental component of the overall transaction, which is the transfer of the copyrighted article. Therefore, the transaction is properly treated solely as the transfer of a copyrighted article and not a copyright right.

Taking into account all the facts and circumstances, NZ Co is properly treated as the owner of a copyrighted article. Therefore there has been the sale of a copyrighted article rather than the grant of a lease.

Tax implications

In this example, if the payment received by Foreign Co is not deemed to be derived from New Zealand under any of the source rules in section OE 4(1), then the payment will be a non-taxable receipt for Foreign Co. If Foreign Co carries on business in New Zealand then the payment will have a source in New Zealand and may be taxable to Foreign Co (subject to the application of an applicable DTA). It is also possible that the payment may be held to have a New Zealand source on the basis that it is income from the sale of property situated in New Zealand or that it is income derived from a contract made or performed in New Zealand.

Application of interpretation guideline on non-resident software suppliers' payments derived from New Zealand—income tax treatment

Although the guideline is intended to apply to transactions occurring on or after the date of publication, Inland Revenue is aware that the draft guideline (IG0007) which was first circulated for consultation in December 1997 has been applied in many cases.

We are also aware that in the intervening period many taxpayers chose to follow the policy set out in *Public Information Bulletin* 168 (published in January 1988 and subsequently withdrawn in *Taxation Information Bulletin* Vol 10, No 7, July 1998). In some cases those taxpayers who applied the old policy would have paid NRWT, which would not have been payable had they followed the draft.

Inland Revenue is aware that this guideline was being applied while still in its draft stage. In order to ensure that those taxpayers who continued to apply the old policy after July 1998 are treated fairly any taxpayer who applied the old policy (and therefore paid NRWT which, in terms of either the draft guideline or the guideline as published, they should not have been liable to pay) may apply for a refund of any overpaid NRWT in relation to that period and cite this guideline as authority.

NEW LEGISLATION

NON-RESIDENT CONTRACTORS' WITHHOLDING TAX

The Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2003, which came into force on 20 October 2003, make two changes to the non-resident contractors' withholding tax (NRCWT) rules.

NRCWT is a withholding tax imposed on non-resident contractors on any contract activity carried on in New Zealand. The New Zealand party to the contract is required to deduct the tax from the amount of any payment made to the non-resident contractor.

The changes aim to relieve the compliance burden on New Zealand employers of non-resident contractors when small amounts are involved, or when the contractor would be eligible for total relief from New Zealand tax under a double tax agreement.

Key features

In 2002 the government introduced a rule whereby non-resident contractors were exempted from applying for a certificate of exemption from NRCWT if they qualified for New Zealand tax relief under a double tax agreement and were present in New Zealand for a period of less than 62 days in any 12-month period.

The first amendment contained in the Amendment Regulations modifies this rule in two ways. First, it extends the time requirement from less than 62 days to 92 days or less. Second, it clarifies that the rule will apply only when the non-resident contractor is eligible for total New Zealand tax relief under a DTA.

The second change introduced by the Amendment Regulations is the insertion of a new rule in section 4(2)(e) of the Income Tax (Withholding Payments) Regulations 1979. Under this change the NRCWT rules will not apply if the total amount of contract payments made to a non-resident contractor is NZ\$15,000 or less in any 12-month period. It is important for New Zealand employers of non-resident contractors to note that this rule will apply only when the total payments to a non-resident contractor (by all New Zealand employers) is NZ\$15,000 or less. This ensures that the rule can be applied only when the New Zealand employer is sure that the non-resident contractor will not enter into any contracts with other New Zealand employers that might breach the NZ\$15,000 threshold.

For example, if a non-resident contractor contracts with party A for NZ\$10,000 in a 12-month period, and in that same period contracts with party B for NZ\$20,000, the rule will not apply. Both party A and party B will be

required to deduct NRCWT, because the total amount of contract payments derived by the non-resident contractor is in excess of NZ\$15,000 in the relevant 12-month period.

Application date

The amendments will apply from 1 December 2003.

GAMBLING ACT 2003 AND THE PROBLEM GAMBLING LEVY

The Gaming and Lotteries Act 1977 and the Casino Control Act have been replaced by the Gambling Act 2003, which was assented to on 18 September 2003. The Act comes into force on a date to be appointed by the Governor General by Order in Council.

Background

There has been a rapid increase in gaming in recent times, especially in forms of gambling that have a high risk of problem gambling associated with them. With the advent of new technology, it was becoming difficult to restrict access to gambling. There was also concern about the lack of transparency in the distribution of gambling funds to community purposes, as well as potential for gaming operators to inflate expenses, and misuse the grants process.

Key features

The Gambling Act 2003 introduced measures to control the growth of gambling opportunities, recognising the technological changes in gaming, and introducing a mandatory problem gambling levy on certain gaming operators to fund the cost of providing problem gambling services. It also provides accountability and transparency in the grants allocation process.

Problem gambling levy

To prevent and minimise the harm caused by gambling, including problem gambling, the Act provides for an integrated problem gambling strategy to be developed. To fund the development, management and delivery of the strategy —including the provision of services to assist problem gamblers, a mandatory levy, known as the problem gambling levy, will be imposed on certain gaming operators, namely, gaming machine operators, casinos, the Lotteries Commission and the racing industry.

The problem gambling levy will be collected by Inland Revenue as part of the gaming duty process. To reduce the compliance costs associated with collecting the problem gambling levy, there will be one combined gaming duty and problem gambling levy rate for each gaming sector.

Sections 317 to 325 outline the problem gambling levy.

Section 319 provides for the making of regulations requiring certain gambling operators to pay a problem gambling levy, as well as, among other things, the rate of levy that is payable to each gaming operator or class of gaming operator or gaming sector, the time by which the levy must be paid and the penalty for late payment.

Section 320 outlines the formula that is to be used to allocate the costs of the problem gambling strategy and of providing services to assist problem gamblers to each gaming sector.

Section 323 provides that the problem gambling levy is neither a tax nor a duty and that the powers of collection, recovery and enforcement in the Gaming Duties Act 1971 and the Tax Administration Act 1994 apply to the levy as if it were a duty.

Consequential amendments

A number of consequential amendments have been made to the Gaming Duties Act 1971, Goods and Services Tax Act 1985, Income Tax Act 1994, and Tax Administration Act 1994. These consequential amendments reflect the changes made by the new Act and the repeal of the Gaming and Lotteries Act 1977.

Application dates

Sections 317 to 325 of the Gambling Act 2003, which relate to the problem gambling levy, came into force on 19 September 2003.

The consequential amendments to the Gaming Duties Act 1971, Goods and Services Tax Act 1985, Income Tax Act 1994, and Tax Administration Act 1994 have yet to come into force. They will come into force on a date yet to be appointed by the Governor General by order in Council.

LEGAL DECISIONS – CASE NOTES

This section of the *TIB* sets out brief notes of recent tax decisions made by the Taxation Review Authority, the High Court, the Court of Appeal and the Privy Council.

We've given full references to each case, including the citation details where it has already been reported. Details of the relevant Act and section will help you to quickly identify the legislation at issue. Short case summaries and keywords deliver the bare essentials for busy readers. The notes also outline the principal facts and grounds for the decision. Where possible, we have indicated if an appeal will be forthcoming.

These case reviews do not set out Inland Revenue policy, nor do they represent our attitude to the decision. These are purely brief factual reviews of decisions for the general interest of our readers.

SECTION 21(1) ADJUSTMENTS

Case: TRA 057/02, Decision No 25/2003

Decision date: 30 September 2003

Act: Goods and Services Tax Act 1985

Keywords: Adjustments

Summary

The Authority accepted the disputants' valuation of the deemed supplies under section 21(1) of the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985. The Authority also held that the disputants were entitled to recover the output tax adjustments on the deemed supplies.

Facts

This case related to adjustments under the former section 21(1) of the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 ("the Act"). The two disputants, a company and a trust, had purchased a number of properties for the purpose of property development. GST input credits were obtained. The properties were subsequently let out as residential dwellings (an exempt activity (section 14(c))).

The Commissioner and the disputants agreed that adjustments were required under section 21(1) of the Act. The parties differed, however, as to the valuation of the adjustments and as to whether the disputants were entitled to a further input tax credit once the properties returned to the taxable activity (normally when they were sold).

The parties filed an agreed statement of facts detailing the location of the properties, the costs involved with the properties, and the background to the dispute. The first issue was what was the value of the deemed supply and the second issue was whether the disputants could recover the output tax adjustments under the first proviso to the former section 21(5).

Decision

First issue

The Authority found for the disputants on the first issue. Authority Willy stated: "[This] point has not arisen in any of the other cases. It must be decided by reference to the meaning of the words "the cost of those goods ... to the supplier" where they appear in s.10."

The Authority accepted that it was possible to hold property for two purposes (*CIR v Morris* (1997) 18 NZTC 13,385, *CIR v Carswell Investments Ltd* (2001) 20 NZTC 17,149).

However, the Authority stated (at paragraph [25]):

On the facts of this case and in those mentioned above, the first principal purpose in buying the land and buildings is to redevelop the site for some other or additional purpose, the proper course is to isolate those "holding costs" which relate to that purpose. Then to see if any of the costs relate also to the second principal purpose.

The Authority found that of the constituent elements of the holding costs, only depreciation was "unique to letting in the cost of the goods". Therefore, only that should be taken into account in the calculation under section 10(8). The Authority further stated (at paragraph [28]):

Approaching the matter in this way achieves the policy of Parliament in capturing back that part of the output tax on the deemed supply referable to letting, (the second primary purpose in holding the property.)

Second issue

The Commissioner argued that the first proviso to section 21(5) only applied to one-off, not periodic adjustments. The Authority rejected this argument.

The Authority held that the legislation creates a fiction in respect of section 21(1) adjustments, requiring the taxpayer to pay output tax on a fictional supply. The policy of this was to deprive the taxpayer of some of the benefit of an input tax credit when the goods are applied for a non-taxable purpose.

The Authority simply stated (at paragraphs [33] and [34]):

It must follow that when the property is returned to a taxable supply purpose there must be as Giles J and Barber DCJ note: a "recovery by the taxpayer of the GST paid on the fictional supply."

Once one accepts the notion of two or more principal purposes current at any one time then the Commissioner cannot submit as he does that "... the asset has not been reapplied or reintroduced into the activity as it never left it."

The Commissioner will be appealing this decision.

DECISION RECALL

Case: TRA 026/2003 **Decision date:** 3 October 2003

Act: Income Tax Act 1976, TRA Act 1994,

TRA Regulation 1998 and District

Court Rules 1992

Keywords: Recall of TRA decision

Summary

Taxpayers' obtain recall of TRA decision as Authority failed to await further evidence requested by the Authority.

Facts

After a successful hearing in an earlier case the taxpayers were concerned regarding some finding of fact made by the TRA prior to obtaining further evidence requested by the Authority. The taxpayers sought the recall of the judgment to enable the further evidence to be put before the Judge. The taxpayers were concerned that the Commissioner may use the TRA's findings of fact to reassess them on new grounds. The Commissioner had previously written to the taxpayers indicating that this would not occur.

A recall of a judgment enables the judge to correct any errors in the judgment (being mistakes of fact or oversights rather than any appeal issue).

The Commissioner opposed this recall saying the Authority lacked any jurisdiction to order a recall (as the District Court Rules rule 530 was not applicable to the TRA due to the application of reg 4 TRA Regulations and sections 25 & 26 TRA Act 1994) and that it was unnecessary as the taxpayers had also appealed the same issue

Decision

Judge Willy decided that he could order a recall under the District Court Rules (as applicable to the TRA) and under an "inherent jurisdiction" of the TRA.

He dismissed the Commissioner's argument regarding the impracticality of applying r 530(6) to the Authority as "mere pedantry". He failed to address the Commissioner's wider argument that the rule (r 530) was inapplicable to the Authority due to the words of sections 25 and 26 TRA Act 1994 which made any decision of the Authority "final and conclusive" (except on appeal).

He also applied the "inherent jurisdiction" of the TRA to recall its decisions. This is unusual as previously the Authority has always denied having any inherent jurisdiction.

LEGISLATION AND DETERMINATIONS

Correction to the foreign currency article in TIB Vol 15, No 10

A couple of errors have been identified in the "Foreign currency amounts—conversion to New Zealand currency" article in *Tax Information Bulletin*, Vol 15, No 10 (October 2003).

In the introduction to the article (page 10) we state that:

"The tables in this item list exchange rates acceptable to Inland Revenue for converting foreign currency amounts to New Zealand currency under the controlled foreign company (CFC) and foreign investment fund (FIF) rules for the **three months** ending 30 September 2003."

This should in fact be "six months".

Also the dates heading the columns in Table B (page 14) show 2002. Despite this, the rates in this table are the rates for 2003.

QUESTIONS WE'VE BEEN ASKED

This section of the TIB sets out answers to some inquiries we've received. We publish these as they may be of general interest to readers. A general similarity to items published here will no necessarily lead to the same tax result. Each case should be considered on it's own merit.

TRANS-TASMAN IMPUTATION ELECTIONS

Australian companies

Inland Revenue is accepting registrations, from Australian companies, to maintain a New Zealand Imputation Credit Account (ICA) prior to the passage of the legislation contained in the *Taxation (Annual Rates, GST, Trans Tasman Imputation and Miscellaneous Provisions) Bill.*

Registrations should be made in writing, at least 30 days prior to the payment of any "imputed" dividend, including all relevant information, such as:

- Australian company name.
- Australian TFN (and NZ IRD number if applicable).
- Details of the company group structure. Please provide parent company and subsidy IRD numbers/ TFNs.
- Date of election.
- Election type is the election for an Australian company to maintain an ICA, or to form an imputation group.
- Street and postal addresses.
- Contact person and phone numbers.

A notice confirming receipt of the registration will be issued along with any relevant information approximately two weeks after receipt. The registrations will then be held until the passage of the legislation—New Zealand IRD numbers will be issued after this date.

Registrations should be sent to:

International Audit Unit Corporates Inland Revenue Department PO Box 2198 Wellington New Zealand

Fax +64 4 384 5883

Process after legislation is passed:

Trans-Tasman election forms (IR 488), along with Imputation grouping election and maintenance forms,

will be available on Inland Revenues website (www.ird.govt.nz) once the legislation receives Royal assent. We estimate that this legislation will be passed sometime in late November or early December 2003.

New Zealand companies

New Zealand companies may choose to enter the Australian imputation system under the **Taxation Laws Amendment Bill (No. 6) 2003** which became law on 30 June 2003. More information along with printable and electronic versions of the election form is available from the Trans-Tasman webpage on the Businesses section of the Australian Tax Office website at **www.ato.gov.au**

AMP GROUP DEMERGER – TAX IMPLICATIONS FOR NEW ZEALAND SHAREHOLDERS

AMP Limited ("AMP") has announced a proposal to separate its businesses and spin off its current holding in HHG plc ("HHG") (previously called AMP (UK) plc) to its shareholders under a scheme of arrangement to be approved by the Australian Courts ("proposed Demerger"). HHG will hold the UK asset management and various UK life and pension businesses. The proposed Demerger is set out in detail in an Explanatory Memorandum dated on 16 October 2003 and forwarded to all shareholders for consideration ("Explanatory Memorandum").

The proposed Demerger involves the cancellation of a number of shares held by existing shareholders in AMP in consideration for amounts becoming payable to them by AMP ("Cancellation Entitlements"), which will in turn be used to acquire new shares in HHG. The shareholders may then retain or sell the shares in one or both companies.

This statement is intended to clarify the New Zealand dividend consequences for New Zealand resident shareholders of AMP in relation to the proposed Demerger and the status of HHG shares issued to the shareholders under the proposed Demerger. Inland Revenue officers, taxpayers, and practitioners may not rely on this statement to determine the tax treatment of other transactions involving share restructuring or demergers.

On the basis of the information provided by AMP, including the Explanatory Memorandum, and on certain specific conditions advised to AMP, the Commissioner has concluded the following about the proposed Demerger. Unless otherwise stated, all statutory references are to the Income Tax Act 1994.

This statement is to be distinguished from the item on "Company Restructuring: Demergers and Spin-outs" in the *Tax Information Bulletin* Vol 15, No 6 (June 2003), which dealt with certain other Australian company demergers, where the tax outcome was different.

Ouestion 1

Will any part of the Cancellation Entitlements payable to AMP shareholders by AMP as a result of the cancellation of AMP shares upon the proposed Demerger constitute a dividend for New Zealand tax purposes?

The Cancellation Entitlements arising out of the cancellation of AMP shares will be excluded from being dividends under section CF 2 for New Zealand tax purposes, by virtue of section CF 3(1)(b).

Question 2

Do the new HHG shares issued to AMP shareholders constitute dividends for New Zealand tax purposes?

The Commissioner has concluded that the allotment of the HHG shares is not itself a dividend derived by AMP shareholders under section CF 2.

Question 3

Are the HHG shares issued to shareholders of AMP, as a result of the proposed Demerger, acquired on capital account by those shareholders who held their cancelled AMP shares on capital account at that time?

The Commissioner is satisfied that the HHG shares issued to AMP shareholders will be acquired on capital account by the shareholders who held their cancelled AMP shares on capital account at the time of the proposed Demerger. Conversely, if held as revenue account property, eg as with trading stock, the new HHG shares should be regarded as having the same status.

These conclusions are contingent on:

- the proposed Demerger being undertaken on the terms set out in the Explanatory Memorandum and other information provided to Inland Revenue; and
- compliance by AMP with certain conditions and obligations, which have been advised by Inland Revenue to AMP.

As these technical requirements cannot be confirmed until the proposed Demerger proceeds, Inland Revenue expects to publish a follow up item in the *Tax Information Bulletin* to confirm the conclusions stated above, after that time.

This statement does not consider the tax implications of the Reset Preferred Securities Preference Share Cancellations, or the subsequent AMP Rights Offer referred to in the Explanatory Memorandum. The application of sections CD 3, CD 4, and CD 5 to particular taxpayers are also outside the scope of this item.

REGULAR FEATURES

DUE DATES REMINDER

December 2003

5 Employer deductions and employer monthly schedule

Large employers (\$100,000 or more PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

- Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due
- Employer monthly schedule (IR 348) due

22 Employer deductions

Large employers (\$100,000 or more PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

• Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due

Employer deductions and employer monthly schedule

Small employers (less than \$100,000 PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

- Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due
- Employer monthly schedule (IR 348) due

January 2004

15 GST return and payment due

Employer deductions and employer monthly schedule

Large employers (\$100,000 or more PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

- Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due
- Employer monthly schedule (IR 348) due

20 Employer deductions

Large employers (\$100,000 or more PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

• Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due

Employer deductions and employer monthly schedule

Small employers (less than \$100,000 PAYE and SSCWT deductions per annum)

- Employer deductions (IR 345) or (IR 346) form and payment due
- Employer monthly schedule (IR 348) due

FBT return and payment due

30 GST return and payment due

YOUR CHANCE TO COMMENT ON DRAFT TAXATION ITEMS BEFORE THEY ARE FINALISED

This page shows the draft binding rulings, interpretation statements, standard practice statements and other items that we now have available for your review. You can get a copy and give us your comments in these ways.

By post: Tick the drafts you want below, fill in your name and address, and return this page to the address below. We'll send you the drafts by return post. Please send any comments in writing, to the address below. We don't have facilities to deal with your comments by phone or at our other offices.

By internet: Visit www.ird.govt.nz.

On the homepage, click on "The Rulings Unit welcomes your comment on drafts of public rulings/interpretation statements before they are finalised . . ." Below the heading "Think about the issues", click on the drafts that interest you. You can return your comments by internet.

with your comm	ents by phone or at our other offices.	the issues", click on your comments by i	the drafts that interest you. You can retenternet.	urn
Name				_
Address				_
Draft p	ublic ruling		Comment deadline	
XPB0	014: Supplies paid for in foreign currency—C	GST treatment	30 January 2004	
Draft ir	nterpretation statement		Comment deadline	
IS006	0: Shortfall penalty for gross carelessness		30 January 2004	
Draft s	tandard practice statement		Comment deadline	
ED00	43: Loss offsets between group companies		30 January 2004	
	Items are not generally available once	the comment deadlir	ne has passed	
No envelope i	needed—simply fold, tape shut, stamp and post.]	Affix

Stamp

Here

The Manager (Field Liaison) Adjudication and Rulings National Office Inland Revenue Department PO Box 2198 Wellington Inland Revenue Department Tax Information Bulletin: Vol 15, No 11 (November 2003)

